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ADDENDUM #2 
 

QUESTIONS & ANSWERS 
 

November 2, 2012 
 
 

1.  What is the current commission rate per facility by your current inmate commissary provider?   
This information can be located within the Award Notice (page 12 of 13) posted on the Contract 
website:   http://contracts.delaware.gov/contracts_detail.asp?i=1198  
 
2.  Please explain Market Price Philosophy per Page 4 Paragraph 3. Is this convenience store pricing? 
Market price philosophy involves comparison to local convenience store pricing. 
 
3.  Who will supply and pay for the Law Library per Page 5 Paragraph 8.   
The vendor should include in their proposal how their model would provide the services listed in 
paragraph 8.  This should also include any pricing options or costs incurred by the offender or State.  
The Law Library is currently funded through offender funds, and coordinated by DOC staff. 
 
4.  Please provide current number of Commissary Staff and Hours Worked per Week per Facility by 
current inmate commissary provider and same for James T. Vaughn which DOC currently operates.  
This would include any inmate help.  
HRYCI Response – 4 vendor staff 12 inmate workers 
SCI Response – SCI has two full time 40 hour per week employees and two inmate workers who 
work 7 hours a day, Monday through Friday. 
BWCI Response – Vendor staff and 1 Correctional Officer. 

http://contracts.delaware.gov/contracts_detail.asp?i=1198
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JTVCC Response – 6 staff who work 40 hours per week, plus approximately 16 inmate commissary 
workers. 
 
5.  Are Inmates charged a Booking Fee, Room and Board, Medical Fees and Medication Fees? If so 
what are the charges?  
All facilities – Medical visit $4.00 and medication fees $2.00 each. 
 
6.  Please explain satellite office/warehouse within Close Proximity to DOC.   
The awarded vendor should explain or describe the proximity of their warehouse/office to DOC 
facilities and their ability to provide efficient and effective services.  
 
7.  For security reasons would it be expectable to pick and pack all commissary orders across state 
line? This would give greater security to the DOC as it would lessen the probability of a friend or 
family member working at the distribution center and would still have next day delivery. 
The vendor needs to provide in their proposal how they plan on providing the services described in 
the RFP.  As stated in the RFP, all employees who work for the vendor must successfully pass a 
background clearance and be approved by the DOC.   
 
8.  How many times a week are orders processed and delivered to each facility? 
HRYCI Response –Orders are placed and delivered once a week. 
SCI Response – Orders are processed once a week and deliveries are received twice a week from the 
warehouse. 
BWCI Response – Order are placed once a week. 
JTVCC Response – Orders are gathered and processed weekly.  The number of times inmates can 
submit commissary orders depends on the privileges of their individual classification levels. 
 
9.  Please Explain, DOC reserves the right to determine final retail selling price. Would this be during 
final negotiations?   Yes. 
 
10.  On Page 16 Paragraph III-A-1 Delaware Business License. Can this be obtained if awarded 
Inmate Commissary Contact?   Yes, evidence of a Delaware business license, or Delaware business 
license application should be provided.  Please take note of Section IV D(5)(c) on page 34, regarding 
licenses and permits. 
 
11.  Please give all the Equipment Needs/Requests by Facility and by Housing unit which would 
include the following: Lobby Kiosks, Dorm Kiosks, Booking Kiosks, Debit Card Release units, 
Computers, Monitors, Scanners (for Bubble Sheets), Printers by type (Ink Jet, Check Writer and etc.), 
Surge Protectors and other types of equipment.  
HRYCI Response – Provided on RFP attachment. 
SCI Response –  
  Pre-Trial Building Housing Units  5 Kiosks 
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Commissary Office    2 Computers, 2 Scanners, 2 Report  
   Printers, 2 Receipt Printers, 1 Server 

Receiving Room    2 Computers 
Front Door     1 ATM/Banker Kiosk 
Merit Building East Side  1 Kiosk 
 West Side  1 Kiosk 
Boot Camp Hallway   2 Kiosks 
Key South Housing Units  4 Kiosks 
Medium Bldg. Upstairs  1 Kiosk 
 Downstairs  1 Kiosk 
Minimum Bldg. Housing Units  2 Kiosks 
MSB Building Housing Units  4 Kiosks 
Business Office Office Staff  6 Computers, 1 Check Writer, 1 Report   

   Printer, 6 Receipt Printers 
BWCI Response - Lobby Kiosk; Booking & Receiving Kiosk; two (2) Kiosks in Units 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 
(need a debit card release swipe); three (3) computers and monitors for Business Office, Account 
Specialist and Commissary Room;  one (1) scanner for commissary room; and three (3) printers for 
the Business Office. 
JTVCC Response – Requests inmate account system with all equipment required to run that system, 
with access in 4 different offices.  All other proposals will be considered (lobby kiosks, housing unit 
kiosks, etc.) 
 
12.  What is the time frame for completion of the installation of equipment and interface with the 
DOC’s offender management system once awarded?  
The awarded vendor is responsible for the install of all equipment.  They will run on a separate 
network from the existing DOC network, so therefore they are responsible for any wiring that needs 
to be done, along with any network equipment that needs to be ordered and placed.  The 
Department will explore the interface to DOC Offender’s Management System after the contract has 
been awarded.    
 
13.  Who will be responsible for the installation of the Equipment and Cost?  The awarded vendor. 
 
14.  Who will be responsible for the installation and cost of the 110V outlets and wiring and the 
CAD5 Cables?  The awarded vendor. 
 
15.  The Commissary Pricing Sheet(s) that was provided with the RFP, are the prices the same for all 
facilities? Is the pricing the current selling prices?  Pricing will be uniform at each facility. 
 
16.   James T Vaughn is currently self-operated by the DOC; please provide a current selling price 
list for all items. 
JTVCC Response – See attachment. 
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17.  Please provide the Monthly Revenues (gross) by Facility and by Housing Unit for the last Twelve 
(12) Months.  
HRYCI Response – Approximately $20,000. 
SCI Response – Not available by housing unit.  Approximately $25,000 per month. 
BWCI Response – Approximately $15,000. 
JTVCC Response – See attachment. 
 
18.  Are Indigent and or admission kits part of the RFP? If so, please provide a list of items and size 
that are currently in the kits.  
HRYCI Response – N/A 
SCI Response – Indigent kits contain 4 stamped envelopes once a month. 
BWCI Response – N/A 
JTVCC Response – The only indigent supplies provided from Commissary funds are mail supplies 
(paper, pens, envelopes, paper and stamps).  Inmates are charged on their accounts for these 
supplies and the funds are returned to the Commissary account as they become available. 
 
19.  It appeared that Inmate Help was provided at Howard R. Young. Will Inmate help be available at 
all four facilities and if so are the inmates paid and how much.  
HRYCI Response – Offenders are paid by HRYCI. 
SCI Response – 2 Inmate workers which are paid by the institution. 
BWCI Response – No. 
JTVCC Response – Inmate workers will be permitted.  JTVCC will hire the inmates, assign them to 
the Commissary and pay for them from Commissary profits. 
 
20.  Are all inmate orders delivered to the housing units and to the inmates by inmate commissary 
provider staff and or inmate help?  
HRYCI Response –Commissary vendor staff. 
SCI Response – Delivered and handed out by Commissary staff only. 
BWCI Response – Vendor staff. 
JTVCC Response – Some housing units go to the commissary to pick-up their pre-bagged orders.  
Some housing units’ commissary orders are delivered to the tier (by staff) and some housing units’ 
commissary orders are delivered cell-front (by staff).  Upon outside vendor providing commissary 
services, the vendor will be required to make deliveries to those areas requiring such, with DOC staff 
providing security back-up. 
 
21.  What space (room(s)) will be available to the inmate commissary provider and the size of the 
rooms by facility?  
HRYCI Response –Space was shown on the tour. 
SCI Response – Both spaces were shown during the tour. 
BWCI Response - There is one commissary room space which is approximately 12 x 15 located in the 
room adjacent to the main dining hall. 
JTVCC Response – The available rooms were shown to the bidders during the site tour. 
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22.  During the site visits some housing units had Inmate Commissary restriction such as Hygiene 
Only, No Food Items and etc. Please list all housing units by facility and what are restricted.  
HRYCI Response –Hygiene Only units are Infirmary & Disciplinary units. Others units may vary at the 
discretion of the Warden. 
SCI Response – Pre-Trial Building – All Five Housing Units:  Hygiene items only.  Boot Camp – All 4 
Bays:  Hygiene items only.  ASDA area in MSB Building:  Hygiene items only. 
BWCI Response – Commissary items are available to all inmates but restrictions will be done on an 
individual basis governing disciplinary actions and/or sanctions given by the disciplinary hearing 
officer adjustment board (will need to access to this program).  
JTVCC Response – Restrictions are noted on the attached price list, and are subject to change at the 
Warden’s discretion.   
 
23.  Section II, Page 4, Number 2: What does “All products must be appropriately labeled for resale” 
mean?  
Cannot be marked “Not for individual sale.” 
 
24.  In reference to the Law Library-  

a. Who currently pays for access to the Law Library? The Law Library is currently funded through 
offender funds. 

b. Will commissary vendors be allowed to charge for access to the program?  See Question #3. 
c. Is the DOC currently being charged for access to a Law Library? Refer to 24.a. 
d. If the information gathered a web-based application or is the information housed on an on-site 

server. Web based access only to DOC staff. 
e. Please specify which facilities are currently utilizing this system. All facilities utilize a law library. 

 
25.  What are the preferred operating methods at EACH facility? Does each facility want product 
stored on-premise or do they want inmate’s orders delivered from a vendor’s warehouse? 

a.  Baylor’s Preferred Operational Plan:   Orders delivered to vendor’s warehouse, no storage 
on premises. 
b.  James T Vaughn’s Preferred Operational Plan:  JTVCC is open to considering whatever 
plan(s) the vendors choose to propose.  Knowing our facility, an off-site bag & deliver 
operation would likely be easier for the vendor.  However, there may need to be a 
combination of on-site and off-site operations for some products. 
c.  Howard R. Young’s Preferred Operational Plan:  Will review all options but to be 
determined with tour of Awarded Vendor’s facility. 
d.  Sussex’s Preferred Operational Plan:  Orders delivered from vendor’s warehouse. 
 

26.  Will each facility accept both an on-site AND off-site proposal? 
 HRYCI Response – Will review all options. 
SCI Response – No, off-site only. 
BWCI Response – Will review all options. 
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JTVCC Response – We will consider whatever proposal the vendor chooses to make. 
 
27.  For the facilities planning on an on-site operation, will this be a window operation or will orders 
need to be delivered directly to the inmate in each housing unit?  
HRYCI Response – May require both options. 
SCI Response – N/A 
BWCI Response – To be discussed. 
JTVCC Response – If an operation is run on-site, some inmates’ classification level allows them to go 
to a window, while others will have to be delivered to the unit or to the cell-front. 
 
28.  Will there be oral presentations in reference for this RFP? If yes, what are the award criteria for 
the presentation?  NO oral presentations. 
 
29.  Regarding the requirement in Section III, Paragraph A, Page 16, Question 3A, “Evidence of a 
valid and active license and a surety bond” Do you want to see evidence of the surety bond that 
corresponds with Transmission of Money License, or a different type of surety bond?  If a different 
type, please supply details on the type of bond, amount of bond, oblige, etc.   
A copy of the Bond supplied to the Bank Commissioner at time of application is what we are 
requesting. 
 
30.  Please specify who will be responsible for sending processed orders to the Vendors warehouse 
for order fulfillment if an off-site operation is required?  
HRYCI Response –Awarded Vendor 
SCI Response – Awarded Vendor 
BWCI Response – Awarded Vendor 
JTVCC Response – The vendor’s staff will be responsible for collecting the orders and processing 
them in their entirety. 
 
31.  If the commissary operation at James T. Vaughn was to be an on-site operation, in which 
delivery to the inmates will encompass a cell to cell delivery, will the successful vendor be allowed 
to utilize their own box trucks inside the compound? 
JTVCC Response – There are windows of time each day where vendor vehicles are permitted access 
to the compound, once searched by DOC staff. 
 
32.  At BCWI, please verify that the commissary room can be utilized by the successful vendor.  
BWCI Response – The space provided next to the main kitchen/dining hall is available. 
 
33.  At SCI, does the current vendor need to supply printers for the business office? If so, how many? 
SCI Response – Yes – 1 report printer, 1 check writer and 6 receipt printers. 
 
34.  Please supply the breakdown of the commissary delivery schedule at each facility.  
HRYCI Response – Monday-Friday. 



7 
 

DOC1212-COMMISSARY / ADDENDUM #2 Q&A 

SCI Response – Monday – Orders processed; Tuesday – Orders delivered to:  Pre-Trial Building, Key 
South Building; Wednesday – Orders Delivered to:  Merit Building, Boot Camp and Minimum 
Building; Thursday – Orders delivered to:  Medium Building and MSB Building; Friday – Orders 
delivered to inmates who were not in their buildings during normal commissary delivery days. 
BWCI Response – Saturday. 
JTVCC Response – See attachment. 
 
35.  Please provide a breakdown of all hardware necessary for each facility. For example, how many 
housing unit kiosks, lobby kiosks, printers, computers, etc.  
HRYCI Response – Provided on RFP attachment. 
SCI Response – See question #11. 
BWCI Response – Lobby Kiosk, B&R Kiosk, 2 Kiosks in Units  3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, (We need a debit card 
release swipe, (3) computers and monitors for Business Office, Account Specialist and Commissary 
Room;  1- scanner for commissary room. 3 printers for Business office; one for check writer and 1 for 
commissary room. 
JTVCC Response – This breakdown is dependent upon the vendor’s proposed plans for how they 
intend to operate the commissary.  Kiosks are an option, as are lobby kiosks, etc.  The only housing 
units that absolutely could not utilize a kiosk option are SHU (Bldgs. 17, 18, 19), MHU (Bldgs. 21, 22, 
23) and D Infirmary. 
 
36.  For each facility, what is the breakdown by PODS/housing units? e.x A-1, A-2, A-3 etc.  
HRYCI Response – provided on RFP attachment 
SCI Response –  
  Pre-Trial Building - Housing Units 1 through 5 

Merit Building – East and West Side 
Boot Camp – Bay 1 through 4 
Key South Bldg – Quad A through D 
Medium Building – Tier A through D 
Minimum Building – North Side, South Side, Greentree Program 
MSB Building – Tier A through F and ASDA 

BWCI Response – Unit III (2 Kiosks) [94 inmates]; Unit IV (2 Kiosks) [77 inmates]; Unit V (2kiosks)[72 
inmates]; Unit VI, (2 Kiosks)[52 inmates]; Unit VII (2 Kiosks)[72 inmates];Unit VIII (2 Kiosks) [25 
inmates]; Units IX (2 kiosks) [55 inmates] 
JTVCC Response –  B Bldg  B Annex C Bldg 
   D East  D West  E Bldg 
   S Bldg  T1  T2 

 V Bldg  W Bldg  D Infirmary 
 Bldg 17  Bldg 18  Bldg 19 
 Bldg 21  Bldg 22  Bldg 23 
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37.  What is the preferred method of releasing inmates for each facility? Ex. Cash, check, release 
cards? 
HRYCI Response – Cash, Check or Release cards (with no additional cost). 
SCI Response – Cash and/or check. 
BWCI Response – Cash drawer, checks, release cards without a fee. 
JTVCC Response – Cash and checks are currently utilized.  Other options considered. 

38.  How many Kiosks are going to be required at each facility? 
a.  Please identify this by Institution and Pod or Unit identification. (i.e. BWCI, UNIT X – 2 
kiosks; UNIT Y – 1 kiosk)  
HRYCI Response – Provided on RFP attachment. 
SCI Response – See question #11. 
BWCI Response – Lobby Kiosk, B&R Kiosk, 2 Kiosks in Units  3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, (We need a debit 
card release swipe, (3) computers and monitors for Business Office, Account Specialist and 
Commissary Room;  1- scanner for commissary room. 3 printers for Business office; one for 
check writer and 1 for commissary room 
JTVCC Response – Kiosks are an option that would be considered.  If the vendor chooses to 
utilize this option, the quantities we believe would be required are listed below.  Since JTVCC 
does not currently utilize kiosks for ordering, this list may need to be altered to meet the 
facility needs. 

Ordering Kiosks 
3 B Bldg 
2 B Annex 
3 C Bldg 
3 D East 
3 D West 
4 E Bldg 
8 S Bldg 
1 T1 
1 T2 
4 V Bldg 
12 W Bldg 
The remaining housing units would not be able to order via kiosks. 

 
39.  Following the most recent service and vendor changes, which DDOC facilities are currently 
operating onsite commissary storefronts? 
 HRYCI Response – Store front and delivery. 
SCI Response – Not applicable at SCI. 
BWCI Response – N/A. 
JTVCC Response – All commissary is pre-bagged.  Some inmates pick-up their bags from a window 
(storefront), while others are delivered to the inmates in their units or at their cells. 
 
40.  Do those facilities (if any) prefer to continue receiving service from an onsite store? 
HRYCI Response – All options considered. 
SCI Response – Not applicable at SCI. 
BWCI Response – To be discussed. 
JTVCC Response – We are open to considering any operating option the vendor wishes to propose. 
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41.  What is the State’s preferred kiosk to inmate ratio (if any)?  
HRYCI Response -60 
SCI Response – 60 to 1 
BWCI Response – 40 
JTVCC Response – Having no experience with kiosks, we cannot intelligently assign a kiosk to inmate 
ratio.  Because of the times when inmates are going to be able to access kiosks, it is going to be 
more important to have a kiosk available on each tier. 
 
42.  Regarding part B. RFP Submissions item 2 (first paragraph) on page 20 of the State’s RFP which 
reads: 

“Each proposal must be submitted with seven (7) paper copies and seven (7) electronic copies 
 on CD.”  Please clarify- does the State require a signed original hardcopy plus 6 copies (7 
 hardcopies total)? Or a signed original plus 7 copies?  Are the 7 electronic copies to be on a 
 single CD or on seven separate CDs?   

One original copy, plus 6 copies – 7 hardcopies total and 7 separate CD’s. 
 



JTVCC ATTACHMENTS 

 

Fiscal Year 2012 Sales   PAGES 11-15 

Fiscal Year 2013 Sales   PAGES 16-20 

Commissary Items and Pricing PAGES 21-22 

Commissary Schedule   PAGE 23 



FY12 B Annex B C D/E

Jul 6,417.83 9,519.72 7,325.64 9,412.29
Aug 9,117.09 13,729.95 7,033.83 11,425.34
Sep 7,382.00 8,106.63 6,903.22 9,902.91
Oct 7,717.21 8,671.27 7,324.50 8,770.99
Nov 8,688.12 9,879.92 8,936.79 11,208.36
Dec 7,817.13 9,551.74 8,246.97 9,362.34
Jan 5,636.10 9,136.29 6,389.04 7,921.18
Feb 8320.39 9,853.51 7,040.71 9,955.87
Mar 7,530.04 11,612.70 9,064.72 9,353.15
Apr 9,298.34 11,162.68 11,670.05 10,563.69
May 6,263.34 10,383.62 8,271.85 10,670.46
Jun 4,639.52 8,800.98 7,630.26 7,007.98

TOTALS 88,827.11 120,409.01 95,837.58 115,554.56



D/W E INF S T1

8,151.93 13,578.93 858.62 17,692.96 2,709.92
9,292.85 16,084.54 1,477.27 20,204.95 4,069.35
7,551.12 12,848.07 827.44 18,225.23 3,119.17
7,630.32 14,554.18 435.99 17,671.18 3,124.77
7,419.12 14,903.83 379.35 20,869.31 4,227.39
8,973.12 14,821.25 370.27 19,456.96 3,715.56
8,727.97 12,188.46 363.99 16,274.90 2,411.31
8,916.94 12,979.35 516.79 17,599.65 2,867.02
9,129.19 13,741.44 923.75 18,501.97 2,569.23
9,237.26 13,295.80 505.55 18,737.80 2,861.26
9,801.98 15,123.39 761.37 22,673.81 3,924.78
7,193.61 12,540.03 453.05 17,645.81 3,054.22

102,025.41 166,659.27 7,873.44 225,554.53 38,653.98



T2 V W 17 18

2,557.53 11,868.91 30,940.41 2,654.89 2,931.79
3,101.19 14,893.51 36,172.72 3,845.45 5,819.28
2,199.25 13,145.92 30,877.51 2,600.36 2,239.94
2,522.85 11,770.41 30,458.54 2,772.00 2,967.94
3,363.14 14,007.32 34,819.84 2,616.42 1,693.37
2,933.53 12,494.02 30,640.66 2,917.55 2,637.79
2,523.61 12,179.12 24,833.51 3,338.25 1,284.86
2,499.36 14,009.89 33,233.05 2,766.25 3,562.30
2,838.25 16,188.79 32,737.72 2,866.28 3,341.20
2,964.14 15,743.45 31,689.07 2,972.92 2,557.99
1,704.22 14,424.12 42,118.51 4,105.53 2,620.34
3,431.28 13,663.69 32,147.64 3,633.61 2,888.58

32,638.35 164,389.15 390,669.18 37,089.51 34,545.38



19 21 22 23 Refunds

2,776.25 5,842.98 7,367.12 7,208.90 (3,223.32)
4,045.88 4,807.30 8,302.03 6,716.04 (2,734.29)
2,239.99 5,110.05 10,289.92 7,827.67 (3,720.44)
2,490.51 5,478.54 10,563.08 6,828.71 (3,480.89)
2,951.25 7,985.46 12,177.25 15,057.98 (2,739.73)
2,809.42 5,333.99 10,178.22 9,047.65 (3,626.19)
2,957.67 5,327.47 8,520.31 7,271.14 (2,969.70)
4,749.95 6,398.91 9,516.60 8,796.15 (4,022.69)
4,171.29 5,990.49 9,836.04 8,997.55 (4,416.15)
3,861.35 5,476.32 8,283.72 9,763.59 (3,667.91)
3,783.89 6,369.48 12,682.26 12,333.49 (3,841.90)
3,821.84 5,429.57 7,872.20 8,452.69 (3,558.90)

40,659.29 69,550.56 115,588.75 108,301.56 (42,002.11)



TOTAL Commissary

146,593.30 146,593.30
177,404.28 177,404.28
147,675.96 147,675.96
148,272.10 148,272.10
178,444.49 178,444.49
316,057.02 316,057.02
170,373.12 170,373.12
159,560.00 159,560.00
164,977.65 164,977.65
166,977.07 166,977.07
184,174.54 184,174.54
146,747.66 146,747.66

2,107,257.19 2,107,257.19



FY13 B Annex B C D/E

Jul 6,729.48 14,208.05 6,204.47 9,976.72
Aug 5,591.69 10,583.88 6,450.26 7,862.41
Sep 6,186.99 9,074.42 5,626.53 8,180.14
Oct 8,266.84 9,131.97 10,216.48 8,602.12
Nov
Dec
Jan
Feb
Mar
Apr
May
Jun

TOTALS 26,775.00 42,998.32 28,497.74 34,621.39



D/W E INF S T1

9,984.57 15,390.46 880.92 21,970.96 2,400.05
7,767.28 12,195.66 275.06 17,628.60 2,562.59
7,946.83 12,981.93 516.26 17,360.78 2,612.58
9,056.58 11,740.54 613.27 14,712.61 2,551.95

34,755.26 52,308.59 2,285.51 71,672.95 10,127.17



T2 V W 17 18

3,394.81 16,642.71 34,933.24 4,796.57 3,806.94
2,952.53 14,426.94 37,981.75 3,073.57 2,561.69
2,598.75 14,002.66 36,893.00 3,266.08 5,858.67
3,358.43 15,075.38 33,133.47 2,525.97 2,573.62

12,304.52 60,147.69 142,941.46 13,662.19 14,800.92



19 21 22 23 Refunds

4,964.93 7,688.68 8,990.85 8,537.34 (4,471.64)
3,100.48 5,883.73 6,147.10 6,113.89 (7,386.11)
6,013.93 4,657.74 3,836.06 4,397.30 (3,310.38)
3,156.82 5,093.38 9,411.30 9,480.63 (4,212.89)

17,236.16 23,323.53 28,385.31 28,529.16 (19,381.02)



TOTAL Commissary

177,030.11 177,030.11
145,773.00 145,773.00
148,700.27 148,700.27
176,541.00 176,541.00

648,044.38 648,044.38
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